IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 19 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

EDWARD CASTRO,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,102

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue, Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1988, following a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Marion County, the Honorable Victor J. Musleh presiding, Edward Castro was found guilty of first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon. Castro was sentenced to death on the first-degree murder conviction and to five and one-half years imprisonment on the robbery conviction. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty hearing because of faulty jury instructions and the erroneous presentation of irrelevant, presumptively-prejudicial evidence of collateral crimes which rendered the jury recommendation unreliable. <u>Castro v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989). This is the direct appeal of a death sentence imposed after that new penalty phase.

In imposing this death sentence, the trial court found three statutory aggravating factors: a murder committed for pecuniary gain; a cold, calculated and premeditated murder without pretense of moral or legal justification, and; an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder. The mitigating circumstances found by the trial judge include; a traumatic childhood caused by poverty, neglect, abuse, sexual abuse and a dysfunctional family life; a history of alcohol and chemical dependency and emotional and mental disturbances, and; the defendant was under the influence of alcohol and drugs at the time of the homicide. (R1983-4) (Appendix A).

FACTS CONCERNING THE MURDER

The circumstances surrounding the murder come primarily from statements Castro made to police following his apprehension on the day of the murder. Castro, alleging that he was too intoxicated to intelligently understand and/or voluntarily waive his constitutional rights, moved to suppress the statements. (R1790-92) Following an evidentiary hearing (R1237-40;271-300;451-473), the motion to suppress was denied without an express finding of voluntariness. (R473). Castro's statements were introduced into evidence over objection and published in edited form to the jury. (R581;598;State's Exhibits 6 and 7).

In sum, viewed in a light most favorable to the state, the evidence established that Castro and Robert McNight spent the night of January 13, 1987, in Ocala in a room rented by a Mr. Gallagher. (R835-36) McNight, a self-confessed alcoholic who

competed in high school wrestling for three years, is 6'1" tall and at the time was 17 years old and weighed 190 pounds. (R838-39;867;880) Castro, also an alcoholic, had been drinking continuously for four days. (R876) "He always had a beer in his hand, there was always beer in the refrigerator." (R876) After obtaining a six-pack of beer on the morning of January 14, 1987, Castro, McNight and Austin Scott went to Gallagher's apartment to drink and talk. (R837;871) Castro had previously indicated to McNight that Scott was to be his "hit", which McNight took to mean that Castro "was going to hustle the guy for some money or -- being from Iowa, you know, you figure maybe a fight, that's about it." (R839).

Gallagher's landlord stopped by and complained of more than one person living in the apartment. Castro replied that he did not want any trouble and that he was leaving in a couple of hours. (R1025-29) Castro told McNight that he was going to jump on a freight train and go up north. (R839-40) McNight went upstairs to a friend's room to take a shower. (R840) When he returned the door was locked. When let into the room McNight saw Scott's body lying on the floor. (R841-42) McNight testified that "Heat was rising from him; his eyes were rolled back and bugged out of his head, and there was no breathing, movements, whatsoever." (R869) Castro, covered with blood, allegedly told McNight to stab the body and to take Scott's jewelry and wallet; McNight complied and stabbed Scott four or five times. (R865-66;868-70).

McNight and Castro then took Scott's car and drove to Lake City, stopping at rest areas on I-75 to sell Scott's belongings. (R870) While traveling Castro drank beer, whiskey and vodka found in Scott's automobile. (R872) "[Castro] drank a bottle of whiskey, and if I'm not mistaken two beers out of the six pack, and he had started in on the bottle of vodka." (R877) Castro's speech became slurred (R875); McNight described him as "pretty well wasted." (R877) Halfway to Lake City Castro told McNight to drive, stating that he was too drunk to continue driving. (R878) Castro continued to drink. (R879)

Deputy Boatwright of the Columbia County Sheriff's Department, responding to a report of a suspicious person, observed Castro exit the restroom of a gas station. (R656-658) Castro's speech was slightly slurred, his eyes were bloodshot, and the officer noted bloodstained clothing. (R658) When Castro became abusive, loud and profane during questioning, he was arrested. (R662-63) Castro's statements followed that arrest. Significantly, Castro's statement (State's Exhibit 6, R597) refers to McNight as a hitchhiker Castro picked up on the way to Lake City. Castro asserted that McNight was "Just a kid, yeah. He ain't got nothing to do with it, man. The kid ain't got nothing to do with it." (State's Exhibit 6).

Scott was stabbed eleven times in the chest and was strangled. (R525-27) His forearms received three stab wounds, described as "through and through" wounds. These were atypical of defensive wounds because they were evidently inflicted while

Scott's arms were pinned against his chest. (R531-32;962-63) The state's medical examiner testified, however, that the wounds to Scott's forearms were defensive wounds because they were to an area far from the intended target. (R562) Scott's blood alcohol content was .22%. (R965) The strangulation could have rendered Scott unconscious in less than a minute. (R963-64;529) Scott received a broken hyoid bone and a fractured larynx, injuries typically inflicted during strangulation. (R525-26;969) There were **no** wounds on Scott's hand(s). (R523;564)

FACTS CONCERNING DISQUALIFICATION OF STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

In the previous trial Castro was represented by Anthony Tatti, Esq., an assistant public defender with the Fifth Circuit Public Defender's Office. (R1155-56) Tatti testified that, as Castro's appointed defense counsel, he received confidential communications from Castro. (R1165-66) However, after Castro was convicted, Tatti left the public defender's office and became a prosecutor with the Fifth Circuit State Attorney's Office. Though Tatti denied revealing to other prosecutors any of Castro's private communications (R1166), he admitted that he had been called by Castro's prosecutor, Mr. John Moore, Esq., and that he discussed with Moore responses the state could make to motions filed by Castro. (R1167-70) Castro moved to disqualify the Fifth Circuit State Attorney's Office because his prior defense counsel was now prosecuting capital cases for that state attorney's office. (R1809-11) Following the hearing where Tatti testified, the motion to disqualify was denied. (R1170)

FACTS CONCERNING EXCLUSION OF MITIGATING EVIDENCE

The trial judge would not permit Castro to introduce any testimony contrary to the scenario of the murder set forth in Castro's statements because, in his opinion, such testimony showed "lingering-doubt" of guilt and as such it was inadmissible pursuant to <u>King v. State</u>, 514 So.2d 357 (Fla.1987).

The ruling on this matter initially occurred when defense counsel sought to call McNight as an adverse witness and question him about his true participation in the murder. The following transpired:

> THE COURT: We are not going to say that McNight had anything to do with this murder in this trial, because there is -- we aren't going to do it; this is a penalty phase mit -- this is mitigation, and that's all, and we're not going to say that McNight stabbed him and killed him, because that's already been settled.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Judge, is the court saying that disparate treatment of codefendants is not recognized.

THE COURT: No, I didn't say that; you can ask him about that.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Well, then, his participation in the murder needs to be established for the jury to decide --

THE COURT: No, You're not going to get into the guilt -- you're not going to get into the guilt, and we're not going to do it; and you're not going to get it through the back door, the side door, or anywhere else; because he didn't have anything to do with it, and Castro says so in his confession.

(R861-62) (emphasis added).

The foregoing occurred in an <u>in camera</u> hearing outside the presence of the prosecutor where defense counsel sought and was denied permission to show that "Bobby McNight was much more involved than the state is leading this jury to believe." (R860). When the court and defense counsel returned to the courtroom, Judge Musleh informed the prosecutor that "They (Castro's defense attorneys) wanted to go into basically -- get back -- it was my opinion they wanted to get back into the guilt phase." (R864).

Because the trial court ruled that Castro could not present evidence inconsistent with his statements, Castro proffered the testimony of Dr. Reeves, an expert forensic pathologist who had personally performed 2,000 autopsies and who had assisted in 2,000 others. (R890-98) Dr. Reeves examined the medical reports, statements, photographs, and physical evidence in the case and concluded that Scott's death was caused by manual strangulation and/or by stabbing which occurred at or about the same time. (R907) The proffer at first concentrated on the type of injuries suffered by Scott and the effect thereof. The trial judge interrupted the proffer and clarified his ruling to have been as follows:

> THE COURT: Let me interrupt a minute. I was under the impression that you were going to use [Dr. Reeves] to say that the previous fellow, McNight, helped in the killing is the reason I told you you couldn't use him, because that goes to the guilt phase. What are you -- what are you --

(R928-29).

Thereafter, defense counsel focused the proffer on the forensic pathologist's opinion that the evidence was inconsistent with Castro's statements as to how the murder occurred. (R933-9) Dr. Reeves determined that the wounds to Scott's arms were not typical defensive wounds; they instead were consistent with having been inflicted while Scott's arms were pinned against his chest over a fixed period of time. (R923-25) The angle of the wounds were 90 degrees off from typical defensive wounds. (R927-28) Had the arms been free, the hands typically would have received wounds also. (R925) It is the doctor's opinion that the injuries were more consistent with two assailants, and that the wounds were inconsistent with the statement that the body was stabbed while on the floor or bed. (R930-34).

The doctor noted that the crime scene photographs showed that the victim's eyes were closed and that any "bulging" would only have occurred while the victim was being strangled. (R935-37) That medical testimony is inconsistent with McNight's statement that the victim's eyes were "bulging" when McNight observed the body on the floor when he allegedly came into the room after the murder occurred. (R936-37) The expert further noted inconsistent evidence about whether the door to Castro's apartment could be locked as McNight claimed, and stated that a competent medical examiner would have verified whether it was physically possible for the door to be locked. (R937)

Following the proffer, Dr. Reeves was permitted to testify that the nature of the wounds would have reduced Scott's

mental awareness to a minute or less (R964), that Scott's blood alcohol content was .22 percent (R965), that the blood in Scott's nostrils was consistent with the stabbing having caused pulmonary edema (R966), and that the wounds to Scott's arms were not necessarily defensive wounds. (R962-64) The doctor was also permitted to say that the stab wounds to Scott's heart were not in and of themselves lethal wounds. (R967)

FACTS CONCERNING JURY INSTRUCTION(S) WHICH RENDERED THE DEATH RECOMMENDATION CONSTITUTIONALLY UNRELIABLE

Castro objected to instructing the jury on both statutory aggravating factors of a murder committed during the commission of a robbery and murder for pecuniary gain:

> DEFENSE: Judge, I would be objecting to the -- them including that capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, as well as the felony murder, it includes robbery; the caselaw as I know it, it is clear that --

> COURT: What are you talking about, what number?

DEFENSE: Number one.

COURT: It was committed while the defendant was engaged in the competent (sic) commission of a robbery?

DEFENSE: Uh-huh. I have caselaw that says that that's --

PROSECUTOR: I have a case on it at this point, Judge, that -- If I can find it, and I would like to read that into the record.

COURT: Okay. It says you can have both of these?

PROSECUTOR: You can argue both of these to the jury, yes sir. The court cannot use both of those factors in --

DEFENSE: What?

PROSECUTOR: You can use both --

DEFENSE: No, you can't.

PROSECUTOR: Sure you can.

COURT: But it says you can put them both in there?

PROSECUTOR: Yes, sir. I would like to just read it into the record.

COURT: Alright. Go ahead.

DEFENSE: Can you read it loud enough so that I can hear it all while I'm over here?

PROSECUTOR: The cite is <u>S-u-a-r-e-z</u> v. <u>State</u>, at 481 So.2d 1201, it's an 85 supreme court case. Under penalty phase it says Suarez makes claims that the trial court erred in instructing the jury in the penalty phase on aggravating circumstances, which have been held to constitute doubling. Specifically, the trial judge instructed the jury on the aggravating circumstances that the murder occurred in the commission of a robbery and that the crime was committed for pecuniary gain, which we argued here. And in this case the murder was committed to avoid arrest, and the murder -- and committed to hinder the exercise of law enforcement. These two pairs of aggravating circumstances have been held to constitute improper doubling -- I'm citing the case law -however, the caselaw cited regarded -regarding improper doubling in the trial judge's sentencing order and did not relate to the instructions to the penalty phase jury. The jury instructions simply give the jurors a list of arguably relevant aggravating factors from which to choose in making their assessment as to whether death or -- was the proper sentence in light of any

mitigating factors presented in the case. The judge, on the other hand, must set out the factors he finds both in aggravation and mitigation, and it is in the sentencing order that this is subject to review for doubling. I think that's explicitly on point, including the two that they're arguing about.

COURT: I understand.

DEFENSE: Judge?

COURT: Yes, ma'am?

DEFENSE: My objection to that would be, once again, they're going to be giving the jury additional information, they're limited to the aggravating factors, it is improper doubling, and what they're saying here is they're only advisory and it's okay if they consider more than you can, because it's only advisory.

COURT: What does this have to do with advisory?

DEFENSE: Because it has everything to do with advisory. They get to look at four aggravating factors, they're going to be giving you what they're calling an advisory recommendation, but in reality we know that you cannot override their decision unless they're -- unless there are factors given on which --

COURT: Okay. But the Supreme Court there says this is okay, so we're going to go by what they say.

DEFENSE: Alright, Judge.

COURT: Even though they may be wrong, they -- even -- you know, they may change it tomorrow.

DEFENSE: Hopefully, they will change it in this case, Judge.

COURT: They might.

(R1067-70).

The trial court refused to give the following written instruction which was based on <u>Provence v. State</u>, 337 So.2d 783, 786 (Fla. 1976):

> The state may not rely upon a single aspect of the offense to establish more than a single aggravating circumstance. Therefore, if you find that two or more of the aggravating circumstances are supported by a single aspect of the offense, you may only consider that as supporting a single aggravating circumstance. For example, the commission of a capital felony during the course of a robbery and done for pecuniary gain relates to the same aspect of the offense and may be considered as being only a single aggravating circumstance.

(R1831).

Defense counsel also requested that the Court define the statutory aggravating factor of a cold, calculated and premeditated murder (the "CCP" factor) as follows:

> Before you can find that the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification the facts must demonstrate, beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, a particularly lengthy, methodic, or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the There must be evidence perpetrator. beyond a reasonable doubt of careful planning or prearranged design. The level of premeditation needed to convict an accused of first-degree murder does not necessarily rise to the level of premeditation required to prove this aggravating circumstance.

(R1829-30). In charging the jury, the court did not define the term cold, calculated, or premeditated (R1135) and, while

deliberating, the jury asked for the legal definition of premeditation and how much time must elapse before a killing is considered to be premeditated murder. (R1145) The jury was returned to the courtroom and instructed as follows:

> COURT: You can be seated. Alright. I have a note here written, a note from you, premeditated, what is the legal definition, and how much time must elapse before it is considered premeditated? This is a note. Now you want me to give a definition of premeditation. Killing with premeditation: Okay. Killing after consciously deciding to do so. The decision must be present in the mind at the time of the killing. The law does not fix the exact period of time that must pass between the formation of the premeditated intent to kill and the killing. The period of time must be long enough to allow reflection by the defendant. The premeditated intent to kill must be formed before the killing. There must be evidence beyond a reasonable doubt of careful planning or prearranged design. The level of premeditation needed to convict an accused of first-degree murder does not rise to the level of heightened premeditation required to prove this aggravating circumstance. Alright? Okay.

(R1150-51) The prosecutor noticed that a juror took notes as the foregoing instruction was given, asked that the court confiscate the juror's notes, and the court complied. (R1151-53) The trial judge re-read the instruction when asked to do so. (R1153)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial court erred in refusing to disqualify the Fifth Circuit State Attorney's Office after Castro's prosecutor telephoned the prosecutor who was previously Castro's defense counsel for this same offense and consulted with him concerning the responses the state could make to motions filed by Castro's defense counsel. The active participation by Castro's ex-defense attorney provided the state with an unfair advantage, denied due process, and otherwise gave the appearance of impropriety which could chill attorney-client relationships and deny effective representation of counsel guaranteed under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution. The sentence must be vacated and the matter remanded for a new penalty phase with directions that the Fifth Circuit State Attorney's Office be disqualified.

POINT II: Over timely defense objection, the court instructed the jury that it could consider and give weight to both statutory aggravating factors of a murder committed for pecuniary gain and a murder committed during the course of a robbery, even though both factors pertained to the same aspect of the offense. In giving the instruction, the trial court expressly relied on <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985) and permitted the prosecutor to argue to the jury that a death recommendation should be returned based on weight attributed to both of these statutory aggravating factors.

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