IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 77,102

By_____Chief Deputy Clark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: Mr. Tatti did not reveal confidential communications to any member of the State Attorney's Office nor did he play a substantial role in prosecuting Castro. Castro has no basis to disqualify the entire State Attorney's Office. There was no showing of prejudice.

Point II: The trial judge did not double the aggravating circumstances of "during the commission of robbery" and "pecuniary gain" since he found they comprised one aggravating circumstance. Instructing the jury that both factors could be considered is not error under existing case law.

Point III: The trial judge did not preclude Castro from presenting any evidence in mitigation. The trial judge advised defense counsel it was not appropriate to attempt to relitigate guilt or innocence, but that presenting mitigating evidence was The trial judge did not preclude questioning appropriate. McKnight on prior statements even though he was not an adverse Neither did the judge preclude evidence of disparate The trial court advised defense counsel during the treatment. proffer of Dr. Reeves' testimony that what had been presented was admissible. After the proffer defense counsel did not pursue the line of questioning regarding two assailants. Any error was waived or was harmless since both McKnight's and Castro's testimony was uncontroverted by competent evidence.

Point IV: The trial court's findings on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstances are supported by substantial competent evidence. Castro lured the

victim to his death so that he could steal the victim's car, jewelry and wallet. Castro went to seek a murder weapon, then returned to strangle and repeatedly stab the victim who struggled for his life. Castro toyed with the victim. Castro knew he had to silence the victim because it was daytime and there were people nearby. Any error was harmless.

Point V: The trial court's findings on the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstances are supported by substantial competent evidence. Castro choked the victim who struggled and scratched him. Castro then pinned the victim to the bed and held a knife up, taunting him with death. Castro repeatedly stabbed the victim as he tried to protect himself. The victim endured mental anguish and extreme suffering for up to ten minutes.

Point VI: This court has previously ruled that Castro's statements were voluntary, and that ruling is law-of-the-case. Castro was not intoxicated at the time he made the statements, and he voluntarily waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the statements at the resentencing hearing.

Point VII: The photographs were relevant to show the cause of death and to explain the medical examiner's testimony. The trial judge screened the photographs and did not abuse his discretion in admitting several of the photographs.

Point VIII: This court has consistently rejected Castro's argument that the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague. Any objection to the instruction was waived.

Point IX: The Florida death penalty statute is constitutional on its face and as applied.

Point X: Castro's death sentence is proportional. Castro strangled, stabbed, then robbed the victim. The cases cited by Castro are inapposite since they involve domestic scenarios, overrides, or much less egregious murders.

Point XI: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to provide written jury instructions on premeditation. The trial judge gave the instruction requested by defense counsel, so any objection was waived. Error, if any, was harmless.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE OFFICE OF THE STATE ATTORNEY.

"personally participated" Tatti Castro claims Mr. "actively assisted" in his resentencing since he helped Mr. Moore with responses to Castro's motions. The record shows that Mr. Tatti had no conversation about Castro's case and did not participate in resentencing. He did, however, give Mr. Moore some case cites he obtained from his research as an assistant state attorney while working on other cases. Mr. Tatti was not questioned as to which case cites he provided Mr. Moore and it was never established that the cites were even used to respond to Castro's motions. Although Castro asserts that "it cannot be doubted that Tatti actively discussed" responses the prosecution could make, the record shows he only provided case cites he used other first degree murder cases and the trial specifically noted there was nothing said about tactics and strategy (R 1172). Mr. Tatti's communications with Mr. Moore did not involve confidential information. To the contrary, any exchange of information involved the standard defense motions or instructions and the state's response thereto which are public record and are certainly not confidential.

In <u>State v. Fitzpatrick</u>, 464 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 1985), the Fifth District Court of Appeal disqualified the entire state attorney's office on the ground that confidential communications relating to the charges against a defendant had been made by him to an attorney who was subsequently hired as an assistant state

attorney. This court quashed the district court's decision, holding that although the individual attorney should disqualified, the entire office need not be disqualified. Consideration 4-1 which requires discussed Ethical preservation of confidences and secrets of a client by an attorney, and Disciplinary Rule 4-101 (b) which provides a lawyer shall not knowingly reveal a confidence or secret of his client or use the same to the disadvantage of his client. Id. at 1186. In Fitzpatrick, imputed disqualification of the entire state attorney's office was unnecessary when the record established that the disqualified attorney neither provided prejudicial information relating to the pending criminal charge personally assisted, in any capacity, in the prosecution of the charge. Justice Erlich dissented, stating that public confidence in the legal system mandated that attorneys should avoid even the appearance of professional impropriety. Justice Erlich urged the court to recede from Thompson v. State, 246 So.2d 760 (Fla. 1971), because Thompson shifted the burden from whether the confidential communication was "usable" against the defendant to it was actually "used" against him. Fitzpatrick whether (dissent) at 1189. However, the court in Fitzpatrick did not recede from Thompson.

Although Castro cites <u>Fitzpatrick</u> for the proposition that a former defense attorney cannot be involved in <u>any</u> capacity, this language referred to the attorney involved in that case and was not establishing a rule of law.

In <u>Preston v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1988), Preston's attorney on a misdemeanor charge subsequently became a member of the state attorney's office that prosecuted him for murder. This court found that the attorney played no "substantive role" in the prosecution. The attorney testified he had not discussed any privileged communications or other matters with any members of the state attorney's office. The attorney did appear at a continuance hearing at the request of the prosecuting attorney to object to a motion to continue. The trial court found, and this court agreed, that the attorney did not participate in the prosecution nor provide any prejudicial information relating to the charges, and his presence at a motion to continue was "assistance"; however, it was not the character of assistance in the prosecution contemplated by Fitzpatrick. Preston at 899.

Fitzpatrick was followed in State v. Cote, 538 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), in which the trial court disqualified the state attorney's office "to avoid the appearance of impropriety" and the Fifth District Court of Appeals reversed. defense counsel discussed his pending murder case with an attorney who subsequently went to work for the state attorney. appellate court found that the state attorney had not The revealed anything he had learned through his contact with Cote's any way participating attorney, and was not in in prosecution, and without a showing of prejudice to the defendant, the mere "appearance of impropriety" or "potential for conflict" was insufficient to require the disqualification of the entire state attorney's office. Id. at 1358 (emphasis added).

Likewise, in <u>Meggs v. McClure</u>, 538 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District Court of Appeal stated:

In order to disqualify a state attorney, actual prejudice must be shown. State v. 1985), Clausell, 474 So.2d 1189 (Fla. approving original opinion, Clausell v. State, 455 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Actual prejudice is something more than the mere appearance of impropriety. While the trial may agree, as concluded, Megas' obviously that appearance before the grand jury was not prudent, it has not been shown that it prejudice. constituted actual Disqualification is not a remedy for judgment; disqualification of a state attorney must be done only to the accused from suffering prevent prejudice that he otherwise would not Such has not been shown to this bear. court.

Here, the entire office was disqualified because of the "appearance impropriety." Clearly, this was erroneous. An entire office need not be disqualified because one member may have a disqualifying interest. Meggs was not the actual prosecutor in the case, and the participation of the assistant state attorney actually responsible for the prosecution has not been shown to have prejudice Wolfe caused any to whatsoever.

Id. at 519-20.

This court has recently cited Justice Erlich's comments in the <u>Fitzpatrick</u> dissent in <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1991); however, this case should be considered prospectively only. In fact, this court stated in <u>Reaves</u> that the newly formulated rule of disqualification would be applicable only to that case and to cases that commenced after the opinion was released. <u>Id</u>. at 107. Furthermore, <u>Reaves</u> is distinguishable

from this case. In <u>Reaves</u>, the state attorney actually involved in prosecuting the case had previously represented Reaves as an assistant public defender. Reaves argued that issues in his prior case - particularly mitigation factors - were similar to issues raised in the murder case. Thus, even under <u>Preston</u>, <u>Cote</u>, and <u>McClure</u>, the attorney would have been disqualified. In Castro's case, as in <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, there was no question the attorney was disqualified. The question was whether Mr. Tatti shared any confidential communications with other members of the state attorney's office which required disqualification of the entire office.

To disqualify the state attorney's office in this case for sharing information that is public record and could have been provided by any other attorney through research, would be ridiculous. As Mr. Tatti stated, the only information he gave Mr. Moore was research he had done on unrelated cases (Keebler or McGuire or Hall) since he had been at the State Attorney's He specifically stated he gave no information as a result of his perspective as a defense attorney in Castro's case. Castro has not only failed to establish Mr. Tatti revealed confidential information but he has neither alleged nor proven prejudice. In fact, he has not even shown Mr. Moore used the case cited he obtained from Mr. Tatti. Absent an actual exchange of privileged information and substantive participation in the prosecution, the mere "appearance of impropriety" is not the sort of prejudice mandating reversal under Preston, Cote, and McClure.

POINT II

THE JURY RECOMMENDATION WAS NOT TAINTED AS A RESULT OF THE JURY BEING INSTRUCTED ON "DOUBLED" STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Castro claims that <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985) is wrong, is an anachronism, and that allowing the jury to consider both "during the commission of a robbery" and "pecuniary gain" rendered their recommendation unfair and unreliable. Castro also argues that a harmless error analysis cannot be applied and the jury should make specific written findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

Castro recognizes that this court has previously found such argument to be meritless. Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. See also, Hayes v. State, 16 F.L.W. S392 (Fla. May 23, 1991); Valle v. State, 16 F.L.W. S303, 306 n.9 (Fla. May 2, The trial judge followed the law and Castro propounds no compelling reason for this court to change prior case law. prosecutor acknowledged the two aggravating circumstances were related (R 1079). Defense counsel was welcome to argue the circumstances should be considered together. Imposition of the death penalty is a weighing and not a counting process, and the jury was instructed to weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances (R 1133-34). See, State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1973). In fact, the state attorney specifically told the jury "it's not a counting, mathematical process, it's a weighing process" (R 1076).

Castro relies on Provence v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976); however, in that case the trial judge found both "robbery" and "pecuniary gain" as aggravating circumstances. trial court found that committed during a robbery and pecuniary gain were one aggravating circumstance (R 1986). See, Deaton v. State, 480 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1985). There was no error and Castro's arguments that a harmless error analysis is appropriate has no applicability. Castro cites Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1990), but Jones involved an instruction on heinous, atrocious and cruel where there was no evidentiary basis for the instruction. A harmless error analysis is appropriate even where the judge finds both aggravating circumstances. Cherry v. State, 544 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1989); Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982); Francois v. State, 407 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1981). Castro's argument regarding specific written findings by the jury has no merit. Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055 (Fla. 1989). His argument that because the jury recommendation was eight to four it is somehow less than reliable is likewise meritless. See, Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 867 (Fla. 1987).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PRECLUDING CASTRO FROM RELITIGATING THE GUILT PHASE DURING THE RESENTENCING HEARING.

Castro argues the trial court was "totally foreclosed from contesting the scenario of the murder contained in his statements to the police", and the trial court denied him due process and the right to present evidence (Initial Brief at 49). He also argues the judge precluded him from discrediting his prior statement and advancing his version of what transpired through McKnight and Dr. Reeves, thus rendering the jury's recommendation and trial court findings unreliable (Initial Brief at 50). He claims he was not arguing lingering doubt of guilt but was trying to establish two persons assaulted the victim and, therefore, McKnight's sentence was disparate. Castro acknowledges evidence of lingering doubt is inadmissible. King v. State, 514 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1987).

A resentencing is not a retrial of the defendant's guilt or innocence. Both the state and the defense can present evidence at the penalty phase that might have been barred at trial because a narrow interpretation of the rules of evidence is not be to enforced. To be admissible, however, evidence must be relevant, and the admission of evidence is within the trial court's wide discretion. Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1988), citing King v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1987); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1986); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975); and Muehlman

v. State, 503 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1987). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Castro claims the trial court limited his presentation of testimony from McKnight and Reeves.

Testimony of McKnight

Defense counsel wanted the court to declare McKnight an adverse witness and impeach him with inconsistent statements (R The trial court said counsel could ask about prior 841). statements (R 852). Defense counsel had an in-camera hearing with the judge and told him she was trying to establish disparate The judge told her it was appropriate to treatment (R 859). question McKnight about any deals with the state but defense counsel said that would be cross-examination (R 860). The trial court stated that he recognized disparate treatment as mitigation and to simply ask McKnight about his treatment (R 862). The only thing the judge didn't want to do was to get back into the guilt phase (R 862). Counsel then said they would need to proffer Dr. Reeves' testimony so the court could make a decision as to whether he could testify (R 862).

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